Collective Bargaining Agreement

between

SEIU 775

and

AWARE, Inc.

Effective January 1, 2024 to November 30, 2025

Contents

PREAMBLE	6
ARTICLE 1: RECOGNITION	6
ARTICLE 2: UNION MEMBERSHIP AND UNION SECURITY	7
SECTION 2.1: UNION MEMBERSHIP	7
SECTION 2.2: DISCHARGE FOR FAILURE TO MEET OBLIGATIONS	7
SECTION 2.3: BARGAINING UNIT INFORMATION	8
SECTION 2.4: PAYCHECK DEDUCTIONS	10
2.4.1: DUES DEDUCTIONS	10
2.4.2: POLITICAL ACCOUNTABILITY FUND/COMMITTEE ON POLITICAL EDUCATION (COPE) DEDUCTION AND MEMBERSHIP PLUS	
SECTION 2.5: ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND VOICE AUTHORIZATIONS	12
SECTION 2.6: HOLD HARMLESS	12
SECTION 2.7: UNION MEMBERSHIP MATERIALS	12
SECTION 2.8: DATA SECURITY	13
ARTICLE 3: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	13
ARTICLE 4: UNION RIGHTS	14
SECTION 4.1: ADVOCATES OR WORKER REPRESENTATIVES	14
SECTION 4.2: UNION COMMUNICATIONS	15
SECTION 4.3: ON-BOARDING/NEW EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION	15
SECTION 4.4: ACCESS TO EMPLOYER PROPERTY4.4.1: OFFICES	16
4.4.2: PERSONNEL FILES	16
SECTION 4.5: COMMUNICATIONS	16
ARTICLE 5: PROBATION	16
ARTICLE 6: JUST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	18
SECTION 6.1: JUST CAUSE AND THE RIGHT TO REPRESENTATION	18
SECTION 6.2: NOTIFICATION OF FORMAL DISCIPLINARY ACTION/WRITTEN JUSTIFICATION FOR DISCIPLINE FOR CAUSE	19
SECTION 6.3: DISCHARGE	20
SECTION 6.4: INVESTIGATION OF JUST CAUSE BY UNION	20
SECTION 6.5: EMPLOYER RULES	20

	SECTION 6.6: PERSONNEL FILES	21
	SECTION 6.7: REGULATORY INVESTIGATIONS	21
Α	RTICLE 7: DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE	21
	SECTION 7.1: DEFINITION OF A DISPUTE	21
	SECTION 7.2: TIME LIMITS	22
	SECTION 7.3: GRIEVANCE STEPS	22
	SECTION 7.4: REQUEST FOR ARBITRATION	24
	SECTION 7.5: ARBITRATION	25
	SECTION 7.6: ARBITRATION DECISION AND COSTS	25
Α	RTICLE 8: LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	26
	SECTION 8.1: PURPOSE	26
	SECTION 8.2: COMPOSITION, SCHEDULE AND PROCESS	26
	SECTION 8.3: EMPLOYEE POLICIES AND HANDBOOK	27
	SECTION 8.4: HOME AND COMMUNITY BASED CARE INDUSTRY-WIDE COMMUNICATIONS	28
Α	RTICLE 9: ACTIVITIES OF SHARED INTEREST	28
	SECTION 9.1: PUBLIC ADVOCACY DAY(S)	28
	SECTION 9.2: LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	28
	SECTION 9.3: OTHER ACTIVITIES OF SHARED INTEREST	28
Α	RTICLE 10: HEALTH AND SAFETY	28
	SECTION 10.1: RIGHT TO SAFE WORKING CONDITIONS	28
	SECTION 10.2: SAFETY EQUIPMENT AND PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT SUPPLI	
	SECTION 10.3: IMMINENT DANGER TO EMPLOYEES	29
	SECTION 10.4: ON-CALL SUPPORT	29
	SECTION 10.5: support and counseling	30
	SECTION 10.6 ANTI-HARASSMENT AND ANTI-DISCRIMINATION POLICIES	30
Α	RTICLE 11: PAY RECORDS AND PAY PERIODS	30
	SECTION 11.1: CHECK STUB	30
	SECTION 11.2: WORK WEEKS AND PAY PERIODS	30
	SECTION 11.3: CHECK CORRECTION	31

SECTION 11.4: DIRECT DEPOSIT	31
ARTICLE 12: LONGEVITY	31
ARTICLE 13: UNPAID LEAVE	31
SECTION 13.1: UNION LEAVE	32
SECTION 13.2: ELECTION LEAVE	32
SECTION 13.3: OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE	32
ARTICLE 14: PAID LEAVE for civic duty	32
ARTICLE 15: HOLIDAYS	32
SECTION 15.1: JOB CATERGORIES QUALIFYING FOR PREMIUM PAY	33
SECTION 15.2: RECOGNIZED HOLIDAY	33
SECTION 15.3: ALTERNATIVE HOLIDAYS	34
Section 15.4 Cash out of banked holidays	34
ARTICLE 16: PAID TIME OFF (VACATION, SICK, AND PERSONAL TIME)	34
SECTION 16.1: VACATION ACCRUAL	34
SECTION 16.2: USE OF vacation time AND SCHEDULING	34
SECTION 16.3: VACATION CASH-OUT	35
SECTION 16.4: SICK LEAVE ACCRUAL	35
SECTION 16.5: NOTICE AND PROOF OF ILLNESS	35
SECTION 16.6: DONATION OF SICK LEAVE	36
SECTION 16.7: PERSONAL LEAVE (PTO) ACCRUAL	36
SECTION 16.8: USE OF PAID TIME OFF AND SCHEDULING	36
SECTION 16.9: USE OF PAID LEAVE FOR MENTAL HEALTH	37
ARTICLE 17: HEALTH CARE BENEFITS	37
SECTION 17.1: GENERAL ELIGIBILITY	37
SECTION 17.2: COVERAGE	37
SECTION 17.3: FUTURE MEDICAL PLANS	37
ARTICLE 18: TRAINING	38
ARTICLE 19: HIRING RATES AND COMPENSATION	38
SECTION 19.1: PLACEMENT ON THE WAGE SCHEDULE	38
SECTION 19.2: DIFFERENTIALS	39
Night Watch	39

INTENSIVE STABALIZATION SERVICES TECHNICIAN DIFFERENTIAL	39
Stacking Differentials	39
SECTION 19.4: ANNIVERSARY INCREASES	39
ARTICLE 20: DEFINITIONS	40
ARTICLE 21: NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT	40
ARTICLE 22: MODIFICATION AND PAST PRACTICE	41
ARTICLE 23: SEVERABILITY	41
ARTICLE 24: SUCCESSORSHIP AND SUBCONTRACTING	41
SECTION 24.1: SUCCESSORSHIP	41
SECTION 24.2: SUBCONTRACTING	42
ARTICLE 25: DAMAGE TO PERSONAL PROPERTY	42
ARTICLE 26: drug testing	42
SECTION 26.1: RECOGNITION OF TREATABLE PROBLEMS	44
ARTICLE 27: CONFLICT OF POLICY	45
ARTICLE 28: LAYOFF AND RECALL	45
ARTICLE 29: TERM OF THE AGREEMENT AND REOPENER	46
Appendix A: HIRING WAGE PLACEMENT SCALES	48
Appendix B: PAY SCHEDULE	50
Annendix C: SICK LEAVE DONATION	51

PREAMBLE

This agreement is made and entered into between AWARE Inc. ("the Employer") and SEIU 775 ("the Union" or "SEIU"), (collectively: "the Parties") to provide for amicable and equitable adjustment of differences which may arise, and to set forth the understanding reached between the Parties with respect to wages, hours of work, and terms and conditions of employment.

AWARE Inc. and SEIU 775 share a common goal of helping individuals live independent lives in Montana. Both organizations are committed to developing a stable and well-trained workforce, promoting the financial viability of AWARE Inc.'s business operations, expanding services in the state of Montana, and building public respect for the long-term care profession. The Parties will continue to develop a productive working relationship focused on problem solving for mutual benefit.

The Employer and the Union will continue work to build a relationship that, acknowledging limitations imposed by state and program funding, will strive to maintain competitive compensation for workers to provide a high-quality work environment and enhance an ongoing relationship of trust and respect. The Parties recognize our obligation to serve clients with the highest quality of care. The Parties further recognize the importance of raising standards throughout the industry and agree to work together to achieve this goal.

ARTICLE 1: RECOGNITION

The Employer, AWARE, Inc. recognize SEIU 775 (and their successors and assigns) as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all employees who are employed by the Employer in the State of Montana, as those classifications found in Appendix A of this Agreement which are Full time, part time and on-call (Relief):

Habilitation Technicians (HT), Treatment Service Technicians (TST), Targeted Case Managers (TCM), Treatment Service Specialists (TSS), Registered Behavioral Technicians (RBT), Relief/On-Call (R), Teachers (EHS-T), Activities Service Technicians (AST), Family Advocates, Night Watch, Intensive Stabilization Technicians, and Nutrition Technicians, excluding all employees not employed in the programs delivered by the Employer, managers, confidential employees, office

clerical employees, professional and professionally licensed employees, and supervisors as defined in the National Labor Relations Act.

ARTICLE 2: UNION MEMBERSHIP AND UNION SECURITY

SECTION 2.1: UNION MEMBERSHIP

All bargaining unit employees shall, as a condition of employment, maintain their membership in good standing in the Union. Each new employee shall, as a condition of employment, not later than the thirtieth (30th) day following the commencement of his/her/their employment, become and remain a member of the Union in good standing. Any employee who fails to satisfy this obligation shall be discharged by the Employer, pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.2, and the Employer shall provide written notice to the Union of such discharge within thirty (30) days. Good standing is herein defined as the tendering of Union dues on a timely basis.

SECTION 2.2: DISCHARGE FOR FAILURE TO MEET OBLIGATIONS

The Union may demand the discharge of any bargaining unit employee who refuses to comply with the requirements in this Article. In no case will the Employer be required to discharge an employee in violation of state or federal law.

The Union shall communicate delinquency to the affected employee and to the Employer within thirty (30) days of delinquency. The notice to the delinquent employee shall include a) the fact that the Union has no record of the employee's membership or religious exemption and b) the action required by the employee in order to satisfy requirements of this Agreement. This notice shall include: the amount needed to pay delinquent dues in full (when applicable), a membership form, and/or any other action needed on the part of the employee to satisfy obligations of this Agreement. The Union shall, at the same time, notify the Employer of the name and reason for delinquency of any employee.

Should the employee fail to satisfy obligations of this Agreement, within fifteen (15) days from the date of the original notice of delinquency, the Union may demand in writing that the Employer discharge the employee. Following receipt of such demand, the Employer shall discharge the employee within seven (7) calendar days of the date of the Union's demand. Provided, however, in no case will the Employer be required to discharge an employee in

violation of state or federal law.

SECTION 2.3: BARGAINING UNIT INFORMATION

Employees covered by this Agreement are required to maintain up-to-date personal phone number(s), and a home address on file with the Employer. The Employer shall provide a roster of all bargaining unit employees to the Union on a twice-monthly basis, no later than ten (10) business days after the end of each payroll close date. To the best of the Employer's available information, the roster shall include each employee's:

- 1. Employee number
- 2. First Name (preferred by the employee)
- 3. Middle Name
- 4. Last Name
- 5. Social Security Number
- 6. Phone Number (all phone numbers shall conform to the '(xxx) xxx-xxxx' format)
- 7. Mobile Number (all phone numbers shall conform to the '(xxx) xxx-xxxx' format)
- 8. Address Type (Mailing, Physical)
- 9. Address 1
- 10. Address 2
- 11. City
- 12. State
- 13. Zip
- 14. Personal Email
- 15. Work Email

16. Birthdate 17. Gender 18. Preferred Language 19. FTE status 20. Hire Date 21. Termination Date 22. Reason for termination 23. "Last" or "Most Recent" Rehire Date (if applicable) 24. Wage rate 25. Overtime hours 26. Differential rate (if applicable) 27. Paid time off hours paid 28. Paid time off hours forfeited 29. Paid time off hours balance (rolling total should include the hours earned/used/forfeited on each row).

- 31. Pay Period End Date
- 32. Pay Period Hours
- 33. Dues deduction amount
- 34. COPE Amount
- 35. Voluntary Deduction 2 Type
- 36. Voluntary Deduction 2 Amount
- 37. Gross pay

38. Work location

39. CBA Job classification

The Union will indemnify the Employer and hold it harmless from any claims, demands, damages or liabilities that may result from the provision by the Employer of any of the requested information to the Union, including the cost of defending against such claim or obligation. The Employer shall collect acknowledgement forms from each employee noting their employment information will be shared with the Union.

The sum of the individual Union dues amounts in the Roster shall exactly match the amount of the dues payment(s) remitted to the Union. The sum of the voluntary deductions in the Roster shall exactly match the amount of voluntary deductions or payment(s) remitted to the Union.

If the Dues Report and the Employee Roster are submitted as separate reports, both reports must have a corresponding record, cover the same time period, and must contain the following identical information:

- Employee number
- First Name (preferred by the employee)
- Middle Name
- Last Name
- Social Security Number

The Employer shall facilitate reconciliation of these employment records with the Union, including clarifying whether workers are inactive because of paid or unpaid leave or other reason. Both Parties agree to work together to ensure that all records are as accurate as possible. All information required to be transmitted under this Agreement shall be transmitted securely in a common electronic format agreed upon by the Employer and the Union.

SECTION 2.4: PAYCHECK DEDUCTIONS

2.4.1: DUES DEDUCTIONS

The Employer agrees to deduct from each bargaining unit employees' pay all authorized dues, fees, and assessments as determined or required by the Union. The Employer shall make such

deductions from the employee's paycheck following receipt of written authorization, and periodically thereafter as specified on the written authorization, so long as such authorization is in effect, and shall remit the same to the Union by Automated Clearing House (AHC) payment within 10 business days after the end of each pay period for which the dues were deducted. The Union will furnish all the membership forms necessary to be used for this written authorization and will notify the Employer in writing of dues, fees, or assessments to be assessed within five (5) days of execution of this Agreement, and thirty (30) days before the effective date of any change. The Employer reserves the right to ensure that the authorization of payroll deductions complies with applicable Federal and State laws regarding deductions from wages.

2.4.2: POLITICAL ACCOUNTABILITY FUND/COMMITTEE ON POLITICAL EDUCATION (COPE) DEDUCTION AND MEMBERSHIP PLUS

The Employer shall deduct the sum specified from the pay of each member of the Union who voluntarily signs and executes a written Political Accountability Fund (COPE) or Membership Plus Benefit Program wage assignment authorization form. When filed with the Employer, the written authorization form will be honored in accordance with its terms. The authorization form will remain in effect until or unless revoked in writing by the employee to the Union, by which the Union will notify the Employer to cease deductions. The amount deducted and a roster of all employees using payroll deduction for Political Accountability Fund (COPE) and/or Membership Plus Member Benefit contributions will be promptly transmitted to the Union by separate Automated Clearinghouse (ACH) payments payable to the Union and identified as Political Accountability Fund (COPE) or Membership Plus Benefit Program deductions, at the same time as the monthly remittance of dues.

Upon issuance and transmission of a check to the Union, the Employer's responsibility will cease with respect to such deductions. The Union and each employee authorizing the written assignment of wages for the payment of Political Accountability Fund (COPE) contributions and/or Membership Plus Benefit Program hereby undertake to indemnify and hold the Employer harmless from all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability that may arise against the Employer for, or on account of, any deduction made from wages of an employee.

SECTION 2.5: ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND VOICE AUTHORIZATIONS

The Employer shall accept confirmations from the Union that the Union possesses electronic records of such membership and give full force and effect to such authorizations as "written authorization" for purposes of this Agreement. In addition to electronic scanned copies of paper authorizations from the Union, the Employer shall accept copies of electronic signatures and give full force and effect to such authorizations as "written authorization" for purposes of this Agreement. Electronic records also include electronically recorded phone calls, an online deduction authorization, or by any other means of indicating agreement so long as the Union can establish that such method is verifiable and allowable under state and federal law.

SECTION 2.6: HOLD HARMLESS

The Union will hold harmless the Employer against any claim or obligation which may be made by any employee by reason of the deduction of Union membership fees, including the cost of defending against such claim or obligation.

SECTION 2.7: UNION MEMBERSHIP MATERIALS

For new employees, union membership materials shall be distributed with the basic employment paperwork required by the Employer by certified/trackable mail. All membership forms for the Union completed by a new employee of the Employer will be forwarded to the Union no later than the thirtieth (30th) day of the new employee's employment with the Employer. The Union will furnish all required documents.

If the Employer uses an electronic system for hiring new employees, that system will include a method through which employees are able to sign membership forms, including dues payroll deduction authorization. The Employer will provide a link to the Union's website and a link to this Agreement in its new employee platform. The section of the hiring process which includes the membership form and payroll deduction authorization will include language explaining the requirements of Sections 2.1 and 2.2 of this Agreement, and that absent a payroll deduction authorization, the employee will need to make payments directly to the Union. If the Employer uses an electronic system for hiring new employees, the Employer and the Union will meet to develop specifications and language for this section.

SECTION 2.8: DATA SECURITY

The Employer agrees that the following information is confidential, and shall not be released by the Employer or its agents to any third party, including any contractor or vendor, except as necessary to comply with the provisions of this Agreement, or, upon not less than (21) twenty-one days written notice to the Union, as required by law:

The names, addresses, telephone numbers, wireless telephone numbers, electronic mail addresses, social security numbers, and dates of birth of all employees covered by this Agreement.

The Employer shall provide a copy of the request and any other materials submitted as part of the request at the time of notification. The Employer shall provide the Union with at least fourteen (14) days to review and challenge the scope of the request prior to the Employer's response to the disclosure request. The Employer agrees to consider the Union's response prior to disclosing any information about bargaining unit members.

ARTICLE 3: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this contract, the management and operation of the Employer's offices, worksites and property as well as the control of the premises and the direction of the workforce are rights exclusive to the Employer.

The right to manage includes, but is not limited to, the right to hire, assign, transfer, promote, demote, layoff, suspend, discharge and discipline Bargaining Unit Employees for Just Cause; select and determine the number of its Bargaining Unit Employees, including the numbers assigned to any particular work; to increase or decrease that number; direct and schedule the workforce; determine the location and type of operation; determine and schedule when overtime shall be worked; install or remove equipment; discontinue the operation of the business by sale or otherwise, in whole or in part, at any time; subcontract bargaining unit work (in accordance with Article 21-Subcontractors); determine the methods, procedures, materials and operations to be utilized or to discontinue their use; transfer or relocate any or all of the operations by sale or otherwise, in whole or in part, at any time; determine the work duties of Bargaining Unit Employees; promulgate, post and enforce reasonable rules and regulations

governing the conduct and act of bargaining Unit Employees during working hours; require that duties other than those normally assigned to be performed temporarily for coverage if necessary; select supervisory Bargaining Unit Employees, training Bargaining Unit Employees; discontinue or reorganize or combine any department or branch of operation with any consequent reduction or other change in the working force; establish, change, combine or abolish job classifications and transfer Bargaining Unit Employees, either temporarily or permanently, within programs and/or job classifications; determine job qualifications, work shifts, work pace, work performance levels, standards of performance, and methods of evaluation of the Bargaining Unit Employees, and in all respect carry out, in addition, the ordinary and customary functions of management.

The selection of supervisory personnel shall be the sole responsibility of the Employer and shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

The foregoing statement of the rights of management and of Employer functions are not all-inclusive, but indicate the type of matters or rights, which belong to and are inherent in management and shall not be construed in any way to exclude other Employer functions not specifically enumerated. The Employer shall have the right to propose to modify the terms or conditions of employment of covered workers, which are not subject of explicit terms of this Agreement or any subsequent Agreement, after notice of such change to the Union and an opportunity to bargain over proposed changes, if requested by the Union within thirty (30) days of notice of the change.

None of these rights shall be exercised in an arbitrary or capricious manner.

ARTICLE 4: UNION RIGHTS

SECTION 4.1: ADVOCATES OR WORKER REPRESENTATIVES

For purposes of representation, communication and mutual administration of the contract, the Union will designate Advocates or worker representatives from among its members employed by the Employer. The Advocate position is the worker representative position responsible for handling representational, grievance and disciplinary issues with the Employer. The Union will notify the Employer when an Advocate or worker representative has been designated. The

employer agrees to recognize up to 3% of its workforce as advocates in each city/community. If a city/community has less than twenty (20) employees, the employer will recognize up to one (1) advocate.

The Employer agrees to compensate designated advocates or worker representatives at their regular rate of pay for their involvement in certain limited labor relations activities. These activities are defined as participation on the Labor-Management Committee while during regular working time; actual time spent in grievance meetings provided that the Advocate or worker representative notifies the immediate supervisor(s) in advance and the supervisor(s) approve; and other approved and regularly scheduled committees and work groups that benefit both the Union and the Employer by prior mutual agreement, as defined in Article 9 – Activities of Shared Interest. Advocates or worker representative shall have the obligation to inform and seek advance approval from their supervisors in advance when they wish to utilizing time as an Advocate and shall follow all usual scheduling procedures to ensure client care coverage.

SECTION 4.2: UNION COMMUNICATIONS

The Employer shall provide a binder or notebook in an area accessible to employees in each office for union postings. The Union will provide a copy of materials to the Employer in advance for notification purposes.

SECTION 4.3: ON-BOARDING/NEW EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION

Worker representatives shall have a maximum of thirty (30) minutes at a designated time, as determined by the parties during each orientation of new employees to make a presentation about the Union and answer questions. Such presentation can be in person or by phone or video conference. The Union shall have the right to include written information on any orientation video tape or other basic written employment materials produced by the Employer for the purposes of new employee orientation. Should a newly hired employee or Union representative be unavailable to attend an orientation, the Employer and the Union shall work in partnership to ensure that the Union will be able to contact such employees in the future.

Management or supervisory personnel may not be present during Union presentations unless mutually agreed to by the Union and the Employer. Such meetings shall not disrupt the

orientation schedule. The Union must inform the Employer of its desire to address the bargaining unit members at a scheduled On-Boarding Training at least two (2) days in advance. In the event a Union Representative is unable to be present at the Employer's new employee orientation, the Employer shall provide a list which includes the new employees' name, phone number, email address and mailing address.

SECTION 4.4: ACCESS TO EMPLOYER PROPERTY4.4.1: OFFICES

The Employer welcomes the authorized representative(s) of the Union to use its local office meeting rooms with notice and approval. The Union may use designated meeting rooms of the Employer for meetings, conducting Union business and adjusting grievances, provided that space is available and will not disrupt the operations of the business.

4.4.2: PERSONNEL FILES

With forty-eight (48) hours' notice, an employee may review material in his or her file in the presence of the employee's supervisor or an employee of the Human Resources Department.

An employee may obtain a copy of his or her personnel file upon written request. The Human Resources Department will copy the requested file within a reasonable length of time, usually within five (5) business days and per the employer's policy. No disciplinary documents shall be retained by the employer in the employee personnel file without the employee's knowledge.

SECTION 4.5: COMMUNICATIONS

The Employer's internal online platform will contain a link to the SEIU 775 website and membership card. Prior to its publication, the Employer will notify the Union of its newsletter so that the Union may submit information for inclusion or distribution.

ARTICLE 5: PROBATION

All new and rehired employees work on a probationary basis for the first six (6) months after their initial date of hire. The probationary period is intended to give new employees the opportunity to demonstrate their ability to achieve a satisfactory level of performance and to determine whether the new position meets the employee's expectations. The Employer uses the probationary period to evaluate the employee's capabilities, work habits and overall job

performance. If, in the opinion of the Employer, the probationary period does not allow sufficient time to thoroughly evaluate the employee's performance, the probationary period may be extended for ninety (90) additional days. An extension of the probationary period must be in writing and provide an explanation of the reason(s) for the extension as well as the new probationary period end-date. The Employer shall not arbitrarily or unreasonably extend the initial probationary period.

During the initial probationary period, or any extension thereof, the Employer retains the right to discharge an employee with or without cause.

During the initial probationary period, employees will not be approved for any paid leave time. Employees may use unpaid time in the case of emergency, unforeseen circumstances, or illness.

Employees will accrue leave time; however, employees cannot usethe leave until the successful completion of the probationary period.

Employees who are promoted or employees who are transferred from one department to another of the Employer shall complete a secondary-probationary period of six (6) months. In such cases of promotions or transfers, an employee who, in the sole judgment of management, is not successful in the new position can be removed from that position at any time during the secondary probationary period. If this occurs, the employee will be allowed to return to his or her former job or to a comparable job for which the employee is qualified. Non-probationary employees who transfer from one benefit eligible department or classification to another benefit eligible department or classification retain their benefits upon placement into their new benefit eligible department or classification. Non-probationary employees who change from a benefit eligible position to a non-benefit eligible position (i.e. Relief Staff) shall have their vacation and PTO cashed out in full.

During the initial probationary period, new employees are eligible for those benefits that are required by law, such as Workers' Compensation Insurance and Social Security.

After the first six months of employment, employees are eligible for other employer-provided benefits, subject to the terms and conditions of each benefits program.

Probationary employees are covered by the terms and conditions of this Agreement except as specifically noted and retain the same legal rights as other employees under the National Labor Relations Act and applicable local, State and Federal laws.

ARTICLE 6: JUST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

SECTION 6.1: JUST CAUSE AND THE RIGHT TO REPRESENTATION

To ensure orderly operations and provide the best possible work environment, all employees are expected to follow rules that will protect the interests and safety of all employees and clients. The Employer shall have the right to discipline and/or to discharge non-probationary employees for Just Cause. Just Cause shall be defined to include legitimate reasons, as defined by employer policies/practice.

Communications between supervisors and employees about disciplinary matters shall be respectful and discipline shall be for the purpose of improving performance. Progressive discipline will not be applied when the nature of the offense is cause for immediate discharge, such as serious misconduct, as defined by employer policies. In addition, the Employer may skip steps in the progressive discipline process based upon the seriousness of the offense in accordance with the provisions of Just Cause.

Employees who are discharged will be sent a final paycheck no later than the next scheduled pay date for the hours worked for that pay period. This final paycheck will include payment for all hours worked including earned vacation hours.

In the case of any form of discipline including termination, the employee's disciplinary action shall include a description of the conduct that is the basis for the disciplinary action(s). The Employer will strive to identify specific corrective action(s) that the employee is expected to take to improve their performance.

Employer Investigations and Fact-Finding:

Prior to issuing a verbal warning, written reprimand, disciplinary suspension, demotion or termination, the Employer shall attempt to meet with the employee to investigate and gather facts. The Employer shall advise the employee of the purpose of the investigatory meeting and

that the meeting could lead to disciplinary action and shall advise the employee of his/her/their right to request the presence of an Advocate or Union Representative in the meeting. If an employee requests the presence of an Advocate or Union Representative, the Employer will make a reasonable attempt to schedule a meeting when the participating Advocate or Union Representative and employee are available to meet. Advocates or Union Representatives may participate by phone or via video conference, if unavailable in person.

The unavailability of an Advocate or Union Representative for a meeting date shall not unreasonably delay or impede the Employer's investigation or decision to take disciplinary action.

The employer shall attempt to complete investigations in a timely and efficient manner.

In the event the Employer's investigation takes longer than five (5) business days, the employee will be notified and provided with an expected date for the conclusion of the investigation.

Employees suspended pending the outcome of an investigation may utilize Paid Time Off (PTO), vacation and/or banked holidays the employee has accrued. In the event the employee is reinstated, the PTO, vacation, and/or banked holidays used by the employee will be fully restored to the employee. If the Employer determines that an unpaid suspension is to be part of the employee's corrective action and reinstatement, the restoration of hours will not include the unpaid suspension hours.

SECTION 6.2: NOTIFICATION OF FORMAL DISCIPLINARY ACTION/WRITTEN JUSTIFICATION FOR DISCIPLINE FOR CAUSE

In the case of any written reprimand or termination/discharge for cause, the Employer shall give a copy of the disciplinary action to the employee, stating the reasons for the discipline. The document shall include a line for the signature of the employee and the immediate supervisor or manager responsible for the decision to issue discipline, including the following notice:

"Signing this document indicates that you have received a copy of the document but does not indicate that you agree or disagree with its contents. You may have the right to contest this action through filing a grievance, if you believe this action violates the Collective Bargaining

Agreement between AWARE and SEIU 775. You may contact your Advocate, worker representative or the SEIU 775 office at 1-866-371-3200."

The lack of the employee's signature on the notice shall not be grounds for nullifying or challenging the notice or any ensuing disciplinary action where reasonable evidence shows that the Employer attempted to inform the employee of the investigation, pending or actual discipline.

SECTION 6.3: DISCHARGE

Within seven (7) calendar days after any discharge for cause, the Employer shall notify the Union in writing (by fax or email) of the suspension or discharge and the reason for this action and shall attach a copy of the disciplinary notice signed by the employee or provided to the employee.

SECTION 6.4: INVESTIGATION OF JUST CAUSE BY UNION

An Advocate or Union Representative shall have the right to interview employees and management personnel and gather information concerning specific and identifiable disciplinary matters. Such interviews shall not interfere in any way with the Employer's business activity. Should a client complaint be involved, the Employer will attempt to provide a copy of the clients' written complaint, if any, with all identifiers removed, so long as the removal of identifiers adequately protects the confidentiality rights of the client and the provision of the complaint does not violate federal, state, local laws, or regulations. No client is required to provide written statements. All issues relating to fact-finding by the Union shall be confidential in nature.

SECTION 6.5: EMPLOYER RULES

The Employer may establish work rules necessary to regulate employees' conduct at work. Work rules shall be reviewed with new employees who will sign a form provided by the Employer to confirm their understanding of the Employer's rules and made available to all employees and the Union. The Employer will advise the Union of any proposed changes to the work rules thirty (30) days in advance. Recognizing the varying needs of clients, rules regarding

delivery of client care, and rules regarding client and staff safety may vary from worksite to worksite in order to assure the delivery of quality care and safety.

SECTION 6.6: PERSONNEL FILES

Any information about the employee may be included in the personnel file, including without limitation information regarding disciplinary action, such as client complaints, warnings, placements on probation status, and formal evaluation reports prepared by the Employer. Information about review of an employee file is contained in Article 4.4.2 of this Agreement.

Twelve (12) months without any disciplinary action will generally result in the last step not being considered. The Employer will notify the Union when circumstances result in the Employer determining that a specific discipline will be considered (egregious action or behavior, for example) beyond the general rule of twelve (12) months.

SECTION 6.7: REGULATORY INVESTIGATIONS

Should a regulatory agency initiate an investigation of an employee that requires suspension or removal from any client but does not require suspension or removal from all work, the Employer will attempt to assign the employee other suitable work until the investigation is complete if permitted by state law or regulation.

If, following the conclusion of a regulatory investigation, it is determined by the Employer, or the regulatory agency that the employee is to be disciplined, up to and including discharge, the notification provisions of section 7.1 (notification of right to representation) will apply.

If the investigation indicates that disciplinary action is unnecessary, the Employer will make reasonable efforts to reinstate the employee to the same hours and position and the employee shall be compensated at their regular rate of pay for all hours lost.

ARTICLE 7: DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE

SECTION 7.1: DEFINITION OF A DISPUTE

A dispute is defined as an alleged violation of the provisions of this Agreement or specific past practices applicable to members of the bargaining unit, as specifically contained in the Employer's written policies and procedures that are in effect upon the date of ratification of this

Agreement, and which have not been altered or amended by this Agreement. The Union and the Employer are mutually committed to resolving disputes at the lowest level possible, where practicable, and in an expedient manner.

SECTION 7.2: TIME LIMITS

The purpose of time limits within the dispute resolution procedure is to encourage the swift resolution of disputes. Time limits may be extended or waived at any step in the dispute resolution procedure by mutual agreement of an authorized Employer representative and the Union. The Union may withdraw its dispute/grievance at any step in the dispute resolution process. The Parties agree the dispute/grievance may be resolved at any stage of the dispute resolution process provided that all appeals are timely.

SECTION 7.3: GRIEVANCE STEPS

Disputes/grievances shall be handled in the following manner:

Step One: The grievant and/or Advocate or Union staff representative shall present a dispute/grievance in writing to the Human Resources Officer or their designee within fourteen (14) calendar days after the employee should reasonably have learned of the event giving rise to the dispute/grievance or within fourteen (14) calendar days after the event giving rise to the dispute/grievance, whichever is later. Upon request, the Employer will extend the deadline to file a grievance up to ten (10) days.

The written dispute/grievance must contain the following information:

- a) the exact nature of the dispute/grievance;
- b) the act or acts alleged to be violations of the Agreement, an Employer policy or the Employer's past practice that is not specifically addressed in this Agreement;
- c) when the alleged act(s) occurred;
- d) the identity of the grievant or grievants; (e) the specific article or provision of this Agreement or the past practice applicable to members of the bargaining unit, as specifically contained in the

Employer's written policies and procedures that are in effect upon the date of ratification of this Agreement, and which have not been altered or amended by this Agreementalleged to have been violated;

e) the remedy proposed to attempt to resolve the dispute.

The Human Resources Officer or their designee shall respond in writing to the dispute/grievance within fourteen (14) calendar days of the presentation to agree to solve the dispute/grievance with the remedy specified by the Union or an alternative remedy or to deny the dispute/grievance. The Human Resources Officer or their designee's response shall be addressed to both the grievant and the Union. If requested by the Employer, the Union will extend the deadline to issue a response by up to ten (10) days. Should the Human Resources Officer or their designee fail to respond within this timeframe, or any extension thereof, the Union shall have the right to forward the issue to the next step.

Step Two: If no resolution or settlement is reached between the grievant and the supervisor, the grievant or the Union may file a written appeal of the supervisor's decision rendered in Step One to the Chief Executive Officer or their designated representative. The employee or advocate or the Union staff representative shall file this written dispute/grievance within fourteen (14) days after his/her receipt of the supervisor's decision from Step One.

A meeting with the Chief Executive Officer or his/her designated representative, the grievant and the Union representative shall be held not later than fourteen (14) calendar days after receipt of the written appeal, unless otherwise to by the parties. The Chief Executive Officer's response shall be addressed to the grievant and the Union and shall be copied to the Human Resources Officer. This response shall be final and binding on the employee, the Union and the Employer, unless it is timely appealed to arbitration by the Union in accordance with this Article.

Mediation (Optional)

Should the parties fail to resolve the Grievance at the Step 2 meeting, either party may request that the Dispute/Grievance be submitted to mediation no later than fourteen (14) calendar

days following the date on which the Employer submits its written Step 2 Grievance Response to the Union. Upon a timely request, both parties shall enter into good faith mediation including using the services of Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services ("FMCS") or another mutually agreed upon Mediation Service offered locally. Each party shall bear their own costs associated with preparing for the mediation. The mediation costs, if any, shall be split equally between the parties. The mediation shall be conducted within thirty (30) days unless the parties are unable for good reason to schedule the mediation in that time period. In no event shall mediation be conducted later than sixty (60) days after a timely request for mediation unless the parties agree in writing. Mediation shall apply only to grievances that involve termination, demotion, or an issue that affects an employee's compensation.

SECTION 7.4: REQUEST FOR ARBITRATION

Prior to invoking Arbitration, the party seeking Arbitration must have participated in mediation in good faith unless both parties agree in writing to skip mediation and proceed directly to Arbitration. If the Dispute/Grievance is not resolved in mediation, or the parties have mutually agreed in writing to forgo mediation, a party may submit a written demand for Arbitration no later than fourteen (14) days following the conclusion of the unsuccessful mediation or written agreement to forgo mediation. Arbitration shall apply only to grievances that involve termination, demotion, or an issue that affects an employee's compensation.

In the event that a dispute/grievance proceeds to arbitration, the Parties shall make a good faith effort to agree on an arbitrator. In the event the Parties are unable to agree, and not later than five (5) days from receipt of the request by the Union for arbitration, the Parties shall select an arbitrator as follows:

- a) The Montana Department of Labor and Industries (MDLI) shall provide a list of five (5)arbitrators to the Union and to the Employer.
- b) Within five (5) working days after receipt of the list of arbitrators, the parties shallselect an arbitrator through the process of elimination by alternately striking names.

The party to strike first shall be selected by a toss of the coin.

OR

The Parties may mutually agree to a list of arbitrators to be used during the term of this Agreement and shall select any arbitrator whose schedule permits timely hearing ofthe grievance.

SECTION 7.5: ARBITRATION

The jurisdiction of the impartial arbitrator is limited to:

- a) Adjudication of the grievance setting forth the issue or issues to be arbitrated;
- b) Interpretation of the specific terms of this Agreement or past practices applicable to members of the bargaining unit, as specifically contained in the Employer's written policies and procedures that are in effect upon the date of the ratification of this Agreement, and which have not been altered or amended by this Agreement of the Employer which are applicable to the particular issue presented to the arbitrator;
- c) The rendering of a decision or award that in no way modifies, adds to, subtracts from, changes or amends any term or condition of this Agreement or that is in conflict with any of the provisions of this Agreement; and
- d) The rendering of a decision or award based solely on the evidence and arguments presented to the arbitrator by the respective parties.
- e) The rendering of a decision involving the administration or interpretation of insurance plansor contracts. The arbitrator shall not have jurisdiction over internal rules of the insurance plan itself which are outside the Employer's or the Union's control.

SECTION 7.6: ARBITRATION DECISION AND COSTS

The arbitrator will render a decision within thirty (30) calendar days after the conclusion of the hearing or within thirty (30) calendar days following any period allowed for the filing of post- hearing briefs. The decision shall be final

and binding upon the Employer, the Union and the employee(s) affected. The costs of the arbitration, including professional services for preparation of transcripts (if agreed by the parties) shall be divided equally between the Unionand the Employer. Any fees for witnesses shall be borne by the party calling such witness.

ARTICLE 8: LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

SECTION 8.1: PURPOSE

To maintain the cohesive relationship, respect and positive culture which has been developed between the parties, the Employer and the Union shall establish a Labor-Management Committee (LMC). The purpose of the Committee shall be to consider matters affecting the relations between the Employer, the Union, and the employees, and to recommend measuresto improve client care specific to services provided by the Employer and in the industry in general; provided, however, the Committee shall not engage in negotiations, nor shall the Committee consider matters properly the subject of a grievance.

SECTION 8.2: COMPOSITION, SCHEDULE AND PROCESS

Generally, the Committee shall be composed of up to five Union representatives and an equal number of representatives of the Employer. By agreement, the parties may invite additional participants to the committee. In addition, the President or Executives of the organizations, or their designees may attend the meetings.

Other provisions for this Committee are as follows:

- a) The Committee shall be co-chaired by one of the Union representatives and one of the Employer representatives.
 The Committee may also decide to rotate facilitation of meetings.
- b) The Committee shall meet quarterly, or as often as needed,

- but no less than once peryear, at a time and location mutually convenient to the Union and the Employer.
- c) The Union and the Employer co-chairs will prepare an agenda to be presented to the Committee at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the scheduled meeting.
- d) Employee Committee members will be released from work for their participation on the committee as long as the employee provides supervisory staff seven-day notice. The Union and the Employer shall pay any travel expenses for the participation of their respective representatives.
- e) Summaries of the meetings will be presented to the Employer and the Union withinten (10) working days after the meeting of the LMC.
- f) The LMC will address each recommended agenda item in writing within one month to the members of the Committee. Should any item(s) be referred to the Chief Executive Officerand/or the Director of Human Resources he/she/they shall report decisions or actions to the LMC within one month.

STANDING AGENDA ITEMS

The LMC shall serve as an advisory committee to assist in the development of the following agenda items. The committee is not limited in its capacity to discuss other issues, as agreed to by the parties.

- Best Practices
- Training and Professional Development
- Legislative Priorities
- Health and Safety
- Organizational Updates

SECTION 8.3: EMPLOYEE POLICIES AND HANDBOOK

The Labor Management Committee shall review and provide input and recommend changes to

the employee handbook and employer policy when necessary.

SECTION 8.4: HOME AND COMMUNITY BASED CARE INDUSTRY-WIDE COMMUNICATIONS

Recognizing our common interests, the Parties will meet and confer over Legislative priorities,

public policy goals and other matters of mutual interest in the home and community-based care

industry. The Committee shall endeavor to meet at least once in a reasonable time period prior

to the opening of any Montana Legislative session. The Parties may mutually agree to invite

other parties to participate in Communications Committee meetings. These other parties could

include, but are not limited to, other unionized Employers in the home and community-based

industry or long-term care policy advocacy groups.

ARTICLE 9: ACTIVITIES OF SHARED INTEREST

SECTION 9.1: PUBLIC ADVOCACY DAY(S)

The parties share an equal stake in advocating for improvements in the quality of care with the

regulators, the State, the Legislature, and the Congress, in building workforce development

programs which prepare caregivers and Employers to meet the challenges of providing service

to the population we serve. Recognizing our common interests, the Employer shall make every

effort to provide a paid leave day for up to three percent (3%) of the bargaining unit for the

purpose of attending an advocacy day for the issues related to agency-provided home care.

SECTION 9.2: LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

By agreement between the parties, the Employer and the Union shall share costs associated

with participation of bargaining unit members in Labor Management Committee Meetings.

These costs include but may not be limited to lost time, transportation, and food costs.

SECTION 9.3: OTHER ACTIVITIES OF SHARED INTEREST

During the life of this Agreement, the parties shall share costs for activates which are beneficial

to the parties, as mutually agreed. These costs may include lost time, travel, etc.

ARTICLE 10: HEALTH AND SAFETY

SECTION 10.1: RIGHT TO SAFE WORKING CONDITIONS

The Employer and the Union agree to comply with all federal, state, and local laws to provide working conditions that are safe. The Employer will establish safety and health rules.

The Employer and the Union recognize the inherent risk of working with the population served by AWARE and the importance of working conditions that will not threaten or endanger the health or safety of employees or clients. Adequate preparation of employees helps both the employee and person receiving care. The Employer will provide employees with information, including relevant care plans and behavioral support interventions, existing problem-solving tools, and strategies to improve safe care delivery prior to any client interactions. Employees are obligated to review relevant client/resident/student information and to complete training as assigned and within established timeframes.

The Employer shall make a good faith effort to notify employees of any inherent health or safety risks prior to an assignment. Employees will immediately report to the Employer any working condition that the employee believes threatens or endangers the health or safety of the employee or client(s). The Employer will make a reasonable effort within medical guidelines to reassign employees who have been injured at work during the provision of client care.

SECTION 10.2: SAFETY EQUIPMENT AND PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT SUPPLIES

No employee shall be required to provide at his/her/their own expense safety equipment, supplies, or protective garments, including, but not limited to gloves and/or masks, to perform any task for a client. If such a situation arises where there are insufficient supplies or materials, the employee will report the situation immediately to his/her/their supervisor.

SECTION 10.3: IMMINENT DANGER TO EMPLOYEES

Any employee who believes in good faith that their health and/or safety is in imminent danger at an assigned work location shall immediately contact a supervisor, before or after calling 9-1-1 (if applicable) as determined by the employee.

SECTION 10.4: ON-CALL SUPPORT

The Employer shall maintain at least one (1) employee per region or office to provide on-call support by carrying a cell phone during non-business hours for employees to contact in the case

of an emergency.

SECTION 10.5: SUPPORT AND COUNSELING

The Employer shall provide support to employees who have experienced a traumatic incident at work, including outreach from trained clinical staff and information about the Employee Assistance Program. The Labor Management Committee may discuss and make recommendations in accordance with Article 8 of this Agreement in an effort to prevent and protect employees from abusive conduct and to assist employees working in environments with challenging behaviors.

SECTION 10.6 ANTI-HARASSMENT AND ANTI-DISCRIMINATION POLICIES

The Employer has established and will enforce policies to prevent unlawful discrimination and unlawful harassment. These policies include a complaint procedure, including non-retaliation and confidentiality policies. Such policies shall be made readily available to employees in the employee handbook and the Employer's internal website and shall be updated as needed or as required by law.

The Employer is committed to providing a work environment that is free of unlawful discrimination. In furtherance of this commitment, the Employer strictly prohibits all forms of unlawful discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, tribal origin, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, age, national origin, physical or mental disability, marital status, or any other characteristic protected by applicable State or Federal law.

ARTICLE 11: PAY RECORDS AND PAY PERIODS

SECTION 11.1: CHECK STUB

Employees shall be furnished with a copy of their itemized deductions each pay period, which shall include the current hours worked, accrued time off for eligible employees, current wages earned, current wage rate, cumulative wages to date, and any regular itemized deductions, including any duly authorized dues, COPE or other voluntary deduction, in accordance with the Employer's payroll procedures.

SECTION 11.2: WORK WEEKS AND PAY PERIODS

The work week shall be Saturday at 12 AM through Friday at 12:00 AM. The normal workweek shall be no more than forty (40) hours per week. Overtime shall be paid for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) in one week in accordance with federal and state law.

Wages shall be paid two times per month. The Employer shall make the pay schedule available to all employees, published as a yearly calendar with pay days and mandatory due dates for submission of time sheets and attached herein as Appendix B. Should an employee fail to turn in the time sheet on or by the date required, the Employee may not be paid until the next pay period except in the case of an emergency beyond the control of the employee.

SECTION 11.3: CHECK CORRECTION

In the event an employee does not receive his/her paycheck on payday or is underpaid due to administrative error, a new check shall be issued within three (3) business days from the pay date as long as the Employer is made aware of the problem on the pay date or the first business day following the pay date. If the underpayment is for a small amount of less than twenty-five dollars (\$25.00), the Employer may ask the employee if the corrected amount maybe paid on the next subsequent paycheck.

SECTION 11.4: DIRECT DEPOSIT

The Employer shall offer direct deposit of paychecks, provided an employee may elect to receive a debit card instead.

ARTICLE 12: LONGEVITY

Employees completing the six (6) month probationary period shall be credited with longevity retroactive to date of hire. Longevity shall be defined as the length of service within the bargaining unit from date of hire. Longevity shall be used to determine wage rates within their classification and entitlement to other benefits for which length of service is a condition of entitlement.

Employees who transfer from one office to another, or work in more than one office, shall keep his or her place in longevity.

ARTICLE 13: UNPAID LEAVE

SECTION 13.1: UNION LEAVE

- a) A leave of absence without pay shall also be granted to no more than ten (10) employees per year and no more than five (5) employees at the same time for no more than ninety (90) days to conduct the Union's business provided fifteen (15) days written notice is given. The Employer and the Union shall cooperate in the scheduling of substitutes, so that employees on leave can return to their job positions upon ending their leave. If this leave lastsmore than thirty (30) days, the Employer may not be able to guarantee the employee a returnto work with the same client(s) or work location(s). If the Employer determines it will harm client services, the Employer may delay a leave request to the employee serving the affected client, until the Employer can find a suitable substitute.
- b) An employee on an approved union leave shall continue to accrue seniority at the same rateof their accrual immediately preceding the leave. An employee on approved union leave is responsible for paying his or her share of employer-provided benefits during any period of unpaid leave.

SECTION 13.2: ELECTION LEAVE

The Employer may grant all employees up to two hours unpaid leave to participate in election activities, as long as staff ratios are maintained.

SECTION 13.3: OTHER LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Eligible employees shall be entitled but not limited to all rights and privileges provided in the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993; and other federal and state laws regulating pregnancy and/or medical leave.

ARTICLE 14: PAID LEAVE FOR CIVIC DUTY

Employees summoned for jury duty or to testify as a victim or witness in a trial will be excused from work to fulfill their civic responsibility, asprovided in the Employer's policy at the time of ratification of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 15: HOLIDAYS

SECTION 15.1: JOB CATERGORIES QUALIFYING FOR PREMIUM PAY

Administrative and School-Based Staff

Regular full-time and part-time employees are paid at their regular rate of pay for time not worked on the recognized holiday.

Direct Care and Relief Staff

Employees who work on one of the qualifying holidays shall be:

- Paid one and one-half times (1.5X) their regular rate of pay for all hours worked on thequalifying holidays
- Awarded holiday accrual hours equal to the actual hours worked on the holiday to beused within one calendar year from the award date

SECTION 15.2: RECOGNIZED HOLIDAY

The following days qualify as a holiday for the purposes of applying the holiday provisions of this article. No employees shall be unreasonably denied holiday leave requests to work on holidays in the following list. To be eligible for holiday pay, the employee must work scheduled shifts immediately preceding and following the recognized holiday.

Holidays Qualifying for Premium Pay if Assigned and Worked:

- New Year's Day
- MLK Jr Day
- Presidents Day
- Memorial Day
- Independence Day
- Labor Day
- Thanksgiving Day
- Christmas Day

The Employer shall publish an annual list of the actual date of observance of the holidays, listed above, if different from the calendar holiday.

SECTION 15.3: ALTERNATIVE HOLIDAYS

If an employee is scheduled to work or works a recognized holiday, the employee shall be awarded timeoff with pay equal to the number of hours worked on the holiday. The Alternative Holiday must be used within one calendar year of its award.

SECTION 15.4 CASH OUT OF BANKED HOLIDAYS

Unused accrued banked holiday leave will be paid in full at separation of employment.

ARTICLE 16: PAID TIME OFF (VACATION, SICK, AND PERSONAL TIME)

SECTION 16.1: VACATION ACCRUAL

Full and part-time employees are eligible to accrue and use paid time off. Employees shall accrue at the following rate:

Hours Worked/Week	Annual Cap (for Carry-Over)	Calculation for Vacation Hours Earned
37-40 Hours/Week	40 Hours	.01924
35-36 Hours/Week	36 Hours	.01924
31-34 Hours/Week	33 Hours	.01924
29-30 Hours/Week	30 Hours	.01924
25-28 Hours/Week	27 Hours	.01924
21-24 Hours/Week	24 Hours	.01924
20 Hours/Week	20 Hours	.01924

Employees shall accrue, but not be able to use, vacation during their initial probationary period.

Each employee's vacation leave balance will be shown on their pay stub and the Employer's timekeeping system.

SECTION 16.2: USE OF VACATION TIME AND SCHEDULING

Employees shall be eligible to take scheduled vacation time off in one-hour increments after their initial probationary period. Employees may use any accrued paid time off for single days off, or consecutive days of vacation. Employees must submit requests for vacation time off in the Employer's timekeeping system at least two (2) weeks prior to the date of vacation. The

Employer will provide written notification of the acceptance or denial of the employee's request within three (3) days, via the Employer's timekeeping system. In the event that too many employees request paid time off for the same time period, and the Employer cannot ensure safe client coverage, paid time off approvals shall be granted by longevity within the office or worksite to which the employee is primarily assigned.

SECTION 16.3: VACATION CASH-OUT

Vacation time is intended to be utilized by employees for the purposes of rest and relaxation. Hours in excess of the annual carryover amount listed in the table above will be cashed out on the employee's anniversary.

Employees whose employment terminates shall be paid for all unused, accrued vacation. Such cash out shall be made by the Employer at the time of the employee's final paycheck.

SECTION 16.4: SICK LEAVE ACCRUAL

Employees earn .01924 hours of sick leave for each hour worked, capped at 400 hours. Each employee's sick leave balance will be shown on their pay stub and the Employer's timekeeping system.

SECTION 16.5: NOTICE AND PROOF OF ILLNESS

The Employer reserves the right to require reasonable proof of an employee's illness only after an absence from work of three or more scheduled workdays. The Employer also may require a doctor's release in the event that the absence from work exceeds three (3) consecutive scheduled workdays. The Employer's requirements for verification may not result in an unreasonable burden or expense on the employee and may not exceed privacy or verification requirements otherwise established by law.

Employees who are sick shall make a good faith effort to provide as much advance notice as possible to the Employer. However, Employees shall personally notify their supervisor(s) of illness no less than two (2) hours prior to their first assignment of the day, unless there is an emergency preventing an employee from fulfilling this requirement. The Employer will maintain a twenty-four (24) hour call or paging service for employees seeking to reach supervisors.

SECTION 16.6: DONATION OF SICK LEAVE

The Employer's sick-leave donation program will remain in effect during the life of this Agreement and any extension thereafter will be attached to this Agreement as Appendix C.

SECTION 16.7: PERSONAL LEAVE (PTO) ACCRUAL

Full and part-time employees are eligible to accrue and use paid time off. Employees shallaccrue at the following rate:

Hours/Week	Complete	Complete One	Complete Year	Complete 5+
	Probation	Year	2-4	Years
37-40	40 Hours	40 Hours	80 Hours	120 Hours
Hours/Week				
35-36	36 Hours	36 Hours	72 Hours	108 Hours
Hours/Week				
31-34	33 Hours	33 Hours	66 Hours	99 Hours
Hours/Week				
29-30	30 Hours	30 Hours	60 Hours	90 Hours
Hours/Week				
25-28	27 Hours	27 Hours	54 Hours	81 Hours
Hours/Week				
21-24	24 Hours	24 Hours	48 Hours	72 Hours
Hours/Week				
20 Hours/Week	20 Hours	20 Hours	40 Hours	20 Hours

Each employee's PTO leave balance will be shown on their pay stub and the Employer's timekeeping system.

Personal Leave (PTO) is awarded on an employee's anniversary (end of initial probationary period and year after thereafter) and must be used before the employee's next anniversary. Personal Leave (PTO) does not carry over. Any unused PTO will be cashed out on the employee's anniversary date, or upon separation of employment.

SECTION 16.8: USE OF PAID TIME OFF AND SCHEDULING

Employees shall be eligible to take scheduled personal leave time off in one-hour increments after their initial probationary period. Employees may use any accrued paid time off for single

days off, or consecutive days of personal leave. Employees must submit requests for personal leave time off in writing at least two (2) weeks prior to the date of leave. In the event that too many employees request paid time off for the same time period, and the Employer cannot ensure safe client coverage, paid time off approvals shall be granted by longevity within the office or worksite to which the employee is primarily assigned.

SECTION 16.9: USE OF PAID LEAVE FOR MENTAL HEALTH

The parties recognize that mental well-being is an essential component of employees' overall health. To support this, the Employer supports employees to utilize their paid leave for mental health.

ARTICLE 17: HEALTH CARE BENEFITS

SECTION 17.1: GENERAL ELIGIBILITY

Eligible employees are entitled to participate in the Employer's health benefit plan as established and modified by the Employer from time to time. Coverage for eligible employees is effective the first day of the month following 60 days of employment. The Employer may select, change, eliminate or modify insurance carriers, benefit plans, benefit levels, employee co-pays and/or employee premiums for its healthcare coverage as allowed by law. Prior to implementing any substantial and material change in insured benefits, excluding those required under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, the Employer shall meet with the Union to discuss the changes provided the Union requests such a meeting within thirty (30) calendar days of receiving notice of the changes.

SECTION 17.2: COVERAGE

The Employer shall pay for up to sixty-five (65%) of the premium of the employee-only coverage and the employee, through payroll deduction, shall pay the remainder of the premium. If the Employer elects to institute a dental or vision plan, employees may participate at their own expense. Eligible employees may authorize deductions for coverage of dependents in the Employer's health benefit plan.

SECTION 17.3: FUTURE MEDICAL PLANS

The parties maintain a vision of quality and affordable healthcare for both the employees and the employer. If, in the lifetime of this agreement, a Taft-Hartley Trust insurance plan is created, the employer agrees to meet with the Union to review its costs and benefits and remains open to joining such plan. The parties acknowledge that the employer is not required to join a Taft-Hartley plan.

ARTICLE 18: TRAINING

The Employer has developed an extensive training program to assure the safety and well-being of its clients and employees, in addition to assuring quality care. As such, all core training and testing will be completed at the employer's expense. The Employer is required to provide training to all employees as dictated by Montana State law and DPHSS rules and regulations.

Recognizing our mutual commitment to develop a workforce capable of meeting the increasingly acute needs of the people served and our encouragement of the development of human potential, the Employer and the Union agree to work together to explore training opportunities which benefit our clients and caregivers.

The Employer will reimburse Employees for all approved expenses the Employee incurs for training, licenses and/or certifications acquired outside the requirements of the job description with the approval of the Employer. Approval for additional training shall be determined on a case-by-case basis and will be at the sole discretion of the Employer. The Employer may schedule time off with pay to allow employees to attend class to obtain certifications/permits.

ARTICLE 19: HIRING RATES AND COMPENSATION

SECTION 19.1: PLACEMENT ON THE WAGE SCHEDULE

Effective the first full pay period after January 1st, 2024, all current employees will be placed on the wage schedules in Appendix A based on their years of service with the Employer. New hires or transfers to different bargaining unit positions shall receive the following rates of pay based on their relevant experience as determined by the Employer. Newly hired Employees shall receive up to five (5) years of experience based on their previous relevant experience. Such advance placement on the hiring scale will not be considered for the purposes of other benefits. In the instance where new hires would be paid a higher wage than incumbent employees in the

same position with the same experience, education and/or community, the incumbent employees shall be adjusted upward. The Union will be notified of any such adjustments.

The Employer agrees to meet and discuss the hiring rates for any new, covered job categories prior to implementation as long as the meeting occurs within thirty (30) calendar days after the Union receives notices of the rates.

SECTION 19.2: DIFFERENTIALS

NIGHT WATCH

Employees classified as Night Watch shall receive a shift differential for all hours worked on a night shift.

All employees not classified as Night Watch assigned to work a night shift will receive a shift differential of one dollar (\$1.00) in addition to the base wage of their classification, plus any other applicable differentials.

INTENSIVE STABALIZATION SERVICES TECHNICIAN DIFFERENTIAL

Employees working in Group Homes where clients have been identified as needing Intensive Stabilization Staffing Services will be paid seven dollars (\$7.00) for all hours worked with the client.

STACKING DIFFERENTIALS

Employees shall be eligible for all wage differentials provided in this section for which they qualify, and such differentials shall stack.

SECTION 19.4: ANNIVERSARY INCREASES

Employees will receive the following wage increases on their position date of hire anniversary, effective upon ratification of this Agreement.

Years 1-4	Years 5-9	Years 10-14	Years 15-19	Years 20+
2.0%	2.5%	3.0%	4.0%	5.0%

^{*}Night Watch employees' increase will be a percentage based on their regular classification, plus one dollar (\$1.00).

ARTICLE 20: DEFINITIONS

Regular Full-Time Status: Employees who regularly work full-time hours each pay week (defined as thirty-seven (37) to forty (40) hours) and who are not in a temporary or probationary status are considered regular, full-time employees. Non-exempt full-time employees are scheduled for a set number of hours. A regular full-time employee is generally eligible for the Employer's benefit package and is subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each benefit program.

Regular Part-Time Status: Employees who regularly work *less* than full-time hours each pay week (defined as thirty-seven (37) to forty (40) hours) and who are not in a temporary or probationary status are considered regular, part-time employees. Regular part-time employeesare eligible for a percentage of the benefits provided by the Employer, subject to the terms, conditions, and limitations of each benefit program.

Relief Staff Status: Employees who do not work any set schedule or minimum/maximum number of hours per pay week. Relief Staff are not eligible for any employee benefits including health insurance and/or paid leave. If a Relief Staff has not worked for over ninety (90) days, they must re-take and complete all applicable training, such as HELP. Relief staff who have worked hours consistent with part-time or full-time hours may be evaluated after ninety (90) days to determine if eligibility for part-time or full-time status is applicable. The evaluation will be at the employee's request.

ARTICLE 21: NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT

There shall be no strike by the Union and no lockout by the Employer over the issues covered in this Agreement during the term of the Agreement. Should the Employer reasonably believe that the Union and/or its member employees are in violation of this article, the Employer shall contact the President or Secretary-Treasurer of SEIU 775 or appropriate designee(s) to advise them of the situation. The officer so notified immediately shall advise employees and/or the Union representatives engaged in the objectionable activity that the activity is unsanctioned.

In the event of an alleged violation of this article, the Employer may commence expedited

arbitration proceedings to seek a cease-and-desist order or other relief by contacting the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service and requesting the immediate appointment of an arbitrator to hear the matter. A hearing of the matter shall be held within twenty-four (24) hours after the arbitrator's appointment. The sole issue at the hearing will be whether a breach of this article has occurred.

ARTICLE 22: MODIFICATION AND PAST PRACTICE

No provision or term of this Agreement may be amended, modified, changed, altered, or waived except by written agreement between the Parties hereto.

Subject to the other provisions of the Agreement, all conditions relating to wages, hours of work, and other terms, conditions and benefits of employment shall be maintained as in effect at the signing of this Agreement. For the purposes of this Agreement, past practice will be considered those past practices applicable to members of the bargaining unit, as specifically contained in the Employer's written policies and procedures that are in effect upon the date of ratification of this Agreement, and which have not been altered or amended by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 23: SEVERABILITY

This Agreement shall be subject to all present and future applicable federal, state, and local laws and rules and regulations of governmental authority. Should any provision of this Agreement, or the application of such provision to any person or circumstance, be invalidated, ruled contrary to law, or enjoined by a Federal or State court, or duly authorized agency, the remainder of this Agreement or the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby. In the event of such invalidation or injunction, the parties shall promptly meet to negotiate a substitute provision. Any changes or amendments to this Agreement shall be in writing and duly executed by the parties and their representatives.

ARTICLE 24: SUCCESSORSHIP AND SUBCONTRACTING

SECTION 24.1: SUCCESSORSHIP

The Employer agrees to notify SEIU 775 in the event any transaction is contemplated which may affect the interests of SEIU 775 members. The Employer agrees to notify any potential purchaser of its collective bargaining agreements with SEIU and will make acceptance of such

Agreements a condition of any sale, purchase, or any other form of transfer of its business, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity.

SECTION 24.2: SUBCONTRACTING

In subcontracting any work covered by this Agreement, the Employer shall subcontract work to persons, firms, or companies meeting no less than the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to wages, hours, and working conditions. This article does not apply to any agency or registry personnel. In the event the Employer subcontracts work to persons, firms or companies, the subcontractor shall hire any and all displaced employees. All subcontracted employees shall continue to remain in and become part of the existing bargaining unit.

Additionally, the subcontractor shall agree to be bound by all the terms and conditions of this agreement and the serviced facilities policies and procedures.

ARTICLE 25: DAMAGE TO PERSONAL PROPERTY

Employees are expected to exercise reasonable care to prevent property loss or damage. For example, it is not considered "reasonable" for an employee to leave property in an empty, unlocked car; or for an employee to wear expensive clothing or jewelry to work with clients whose behavior may be unpredictable.

In the event that an employee's personal property is damaged while performing work duties, the employee shall inform the supervisor immediately. The employee shall submit an incident report in writing to their supervisor and Human Resources as soon as possible, but no later than forty-eight (48) hours, providing the following information: location, date, and time the incident occurred which resulted in damage to personal property, how the damage occurred and approximate value of the loss, if known.

The Employer shall investigate the claim and issue a written response within fifteen (15) business days. A claim shall not be unreasonably denied.

ARTICLE 26: DRUG TESTING

The Employer is required to maintain a drug-free workplace. Possession, manufacture, distribution, the storage of, the consumption of or otherwise using alcohol, marijuana and

illegal drugs on the Employer's premises, worksites, in vehicles owned by the Employer or any workplace activity is prohibited.

In cases where an employee was involved in a workplace accident or the employee's supervisor or other management personnel has reasonable suspicion to believe that the employee is under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol, alcohol and/or drug screening may be ordered consistent with the Employer's Controlled Substance and Alcohol Testing Policy ("Testing Policy") to ensure fitness for duty. Reasonable suspicion must be based on objective symptoms, such as factors related to the employee's behavior, mobility and/or speech. These observations must be documented by the supervisor or management personnel. The Employer may also require an employee to submit to follow-up testing after a positive test.

All employees eligible for drug testing under the Testing Policy will receive a copy of the Testing Policy and educational materials regarding controlled substance and alcohol use and abuse. Eligible employees will sign a Receipt and Acknowledgment form, indicating that they understand that compliance with the Testing Policy is a condition of employment and continuing employment with the Employer. The Receipt and Acknowledgment form indicates that the employee voluntarily gives their consent to submit to testing as described in the Testing Policy.

Prior to any test for alcohol or drugs, employees will be provided with a copy of the Employer's Testing Policy, the employee's Receipt and Acknowledgment form, and a written explanation for the request for testing. They will also be offered representation per Article 6, Section 1 of this Agreement, however, the unavailability of a Union Representative within a reasonable period will not prevent the Employer from ordering the drug test. The Employer will order and pay for testing (except as provided in Section 8 of the Testing Policy regarding the employee's right of rebuttal) at a Health and Human Services (HHS) approved laboratory and will include urinalysis, or, for marijuana-specific testing, oral fluid (saliva) testing, and will be regulated by HHS guidelines. Employees who are tested will be compensated at their regular rate of pay, including benefits, for time attributable to testing.

Testing and test results will be kept confidential consistent with Section 12 of the Testing Policy

(Confidentiality of Results). Employees will be given the opportunity to explain positive results and provide valid medical prescriptions or reasons which could explain a positive result consistent with Section 8 of the Testing Policy (Employee's Right of Rebuttal). If an employee is retained after violating the Testing Policy, the employee may be suspended from participating in an appropriate drug or alcohol counseling, treatment, or rehabilitation program as a condition of continued employment. Employees will be able to use accrued Paid Time Off if suspended and will be reinstated immediately with medical clearance.

In cases where marijuana use is detected, the Employer will consider additional factors, such as observed behavior, job performance, and other relevant evidence, to determine whether an employee's impairment affects or affected their ability to perform their job safely. A follow-up test will be conducted after seven (7) calendar days and if no marijuana is detected, no disciplinary action will result unless an accident occurred or work performance was impacted.

The Employer will not discriminate against any employee based on the results of a drug test or an employee's participation in drug or alcohol counseling, treatment, or rehabilitation programs.

SECTION 26.1: RECOGNITION OF TREATABLE PROBLEMS

The Employer and the Union recognize that alcohol and chemical dependency are chronic and treatable conditions. The Employer and the Union support efforts which will enable a dependant employee to remain employed so long as performance expectations are maintained. Efforts should be made by the employee to identify these conditions and the treatment options at an early stage to prevent or minimize erosion in work performance when applicable. The Employer and the Union will encourage and support employee participation in substance abuse monitoring programs, including individually tailored return to work agreements, through which employees may seek confidential assistance in the resolution of chemical dependency or other problems which may impact job performance. The Employer further acknowledges that alcoholism and chemical dependency are health conditions for which an employee may be eligible to request reasonable accommodation under the same terms as employees with other qualifying health conditions. It is the intention of the Employer to work with a qualifying

employee to provide reasonable accommodations, which in some circumstances may include a medical leave of absence (during which an employee could utilize accrued PTO) or adjustments to an employee's work schedule on a temporary basis to support the employee's participation in prescribed treatment programs. The Employer and the Union acknowledge that employees must continue to be responsible for maintaining satisfactory job performance and attendance and for compliance with the Employer's policies and procedures.

ARTICLE 27: CONFLICT OF POLICY

Employees are required to comply with all of the Employer's written policies and procedures that are in effect upon the date of ratification of this Agreement, and which have not been altered or amended by this Agreement. In the event a written policy or procedure conflicts with this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement will supersede the conflicting provision(s).

ARTICLE 28: LAYOFF AND RECALL

In the event that a reduction in work force (layoff) becomes necessary due to seasonal fluctuations, changes in economic conditions, or any other reason deemed sufficient by the Employer, employees will be selected for layoff. The order of employees selected for layoff shall generally be based on community, facility, position, and longevity.

GUIDELINES

- A. Employees shall generally be selected for layoff based upon the following considerations:
 - 1. Community
 - 2. Facility
 - 3. Position
 - 4. Longevity
 - a. Employees who have not completed their probation,
 - b. Temporary and part-time employees, and

- c. Regular, full-time employees with the least longevity.
- 5. Employee's performance. This will be based on verbal reprimands, counseling reports, and performance evaluations.
- B. Employment will normally be separated as of the layoff date.

 Employees on layoff will notreceive any pay or earn any vacation days during the layoff period. (Health Insurance may continue in accordance with applicable COBRA policies.)
- C. Employees will be carried on the recall list for ninety (90) days following layoff. If an employee is recalled during this ninety (90) day period, the employee will be reinstated at their previous rate of pay and previously accumulated leave days (holiday, sick and personal) will be reinstated and accumulate forward from the recall date, minus any paid sick leave (vacation, PTO or banked holidays) the employee utilized while on the layoff. At the end of the ninety (90) day layoff period, any unused vacation, PTO, and banked holidays will be cashed out.
- D. Employees on the recall list will generally be recalled in the reverse order of layoff.

 Notice of recall will be sent by certified mail to the most current home address
 furnished by the employee to the Human Resources Department. A copy of the
 recall notice will be placed in the employee's personnel file.
 - It is the site supervisor's (or in the case of Corporate Office, the supervisor's) responsibility toinform employees who are laid off in accordance with this policy.

The Employer shall notify the Union as soon as possible, but no less than thirty (30) days before an expected layoff is to occur. The notification will generally provide information such as the reason for the layoff, the community, or communities where the layoff is scheduled to occur and the likely number of impacted employees.

ARTICLE 29: TERM OF THE AGREEMENT AND REOPENER

This Agreement shall be effective upon ratification and shall remain in full force and effect unless amended by mutual written agreement of the parties through November 30, 2025, and

year to year thereafter provided, however, that either party may serve written notice on the other at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date, or subsequent expiration anniversary date, of its desire to amend any provision hereof.

In the event that during the term of this Agreement, the State of Montana substantially changes the anticipated funding for contracted services provided by the Employer and/or there is any other change that lowers or increases the level of reimbursement established at the time of the signing of this Agreement, the Parties agree to reopen this Agreement immediately for negotiations on all economically impacted sections.

Sterling Harders, President

5/29/24

Date

For AWARE, Inc.

Matt Bugni, Chief Executive Officer

Date

APPENDIX A: HIRING WAGE PLACEMENT SCALES

TABLE A:

	Start Rate 0.99 Years	1 – 1.99 Years	2 – 2.99 Years	3 – 3.99 Years	4 – 4.99 Years	5 Years
POSITION	0	1	2	3	4	5
Treatment Service Tech (TST)	\$17.00	\$17.26	\$17.61	\$17.96	\$18.32	\$18.78
Habilitation Tech (HT)	\$17.00	\$17.26	\$17.61	\$17.96	\$18.32	\$18.78
Night Watch (TSTs and HTs)	\$18.00	\$18.27	\$18.64	\$19.01	\$19.39	\$19.87
Registered Behavioral Tech (RBTs)	\$17.75	\$18.02	\$18.38	\$18.75	\$19.13	\$19.61
DD/Youth Case/SDMI/PACT/FACT Case Manager	\$20.00	\$20.30	\$20.71	\$21.12	\$21.54	\$22.08
Treatment Service Specialist/Advocate (Family/Child/Community/School)	\$19.75	\$20.05	\$20.45	\$20.86	\$21.28	\$21.81

Early Head Start Rates for Teachers

Early Head Start Childhood Services (EHS/ECS) employees will receive wage increases according to the following:

- a. EHS/ECS employees will receive annual cost-of-living (COLA) adjustments on July 1 of each year as granted by the Office of Head Start. This COLA increase is contingent on funding from the Office of Head Start. Employees will not receive COLA adjustments if such increases are not funded by the Office of Head Start in a given year.
- b. The parties recognize and agree that the COLA increase for EHS/ECS employees is intended to supplement and replace, if appropriate, the employee's anniversary date of hire (ADOH) increase. If the annual COLA increase is less than an employee's ADOH increase, AWARE will increase the employee's wages by the difference between the ADOH increase and the COLA increase. This increase will be granted on the employee's anniversary date of hire with AWARE. COLA increase occurs effective July 1 with the remaining difference awarded on the anniversary date.
- c. Pay will increase as indicated for the positions in the following table:

Early Head Start Teacher	Entry - 2 Year	Entry - 2 Years' Experience		teachers will rate effective rtification is by EHS)	AA (must obtain CDA if not related degree)	BA/BS (must obtain CDA if not related degree)		
Experience	0-1.99 Years	2+ Years	0-1.99 Years	2+ Years				
Community	Community							
Billings, Butte,								
Helena	\$18.23	\$18.50	\$19.07	\$19.35	\$19.46	\$20.54		
Belgrade	\$19.31	\$19.58	\$20.69	\$20.96	\$21.09	\$22.16		
Other CBA Positions								
Family Advocate	\$22.50							
Health and								
Disabilities	\$22.50							
Nutristion								
Coordinator	\$16.75							

APPENDIX B: PAY SCHEDULE

APPENDIX C: SICK LEAVE DONATION